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SENATOR DEBORAH V. ORTIZ:  Good afternoon and welcome.


Today we intend to review the public dental programs that provide services to low-income working people.  Without question, the public dental programs are clearly not meeting California’s dental health needs.  Study after study tells us that untreated dental diseases cause serious and chronic difficulties for tens of thousands of Californians.  Untreated dental conditions lead to unnecessary pain and infection, diminish the capacity to eat or speak, reduce the capacity to learn and concentrate, seriously impact self-esteem, they prove to be barriers to employment, and they contribute to chronic conditions such as diabetes.


This situation is especially troubling when we realize that dental diseases are entirely preventable.  Unlike many of the medical conditions that plague our society, dentistry is simple, predictable, and routine.  I’m equally troubled, that despite a thorough understanding of preventive and therapeutic dentistry, despite the existence of large categorical programs committed to serving public patients, we’ve made little progress in addressing the unmet dental needs of our working residents.


Why are these public services failing to reach California’s poor?

I’m most troubled by the fact that we failed to prevent or serve the most vulnerable members of our state.  I’m deeply concerned that California’s children are twice as likely as other American children to have cavities before they’re eight-years-old.  We should all be shocked that nearly one-quarter of California’s preschool children have untreated tooth decay.  Preschoolers in Head Start have decay rates at 165 percent of their wealthier peers.


The burden of dental disease falls disproportionately on the poor, on the minorities, and on the elderly.  Two-thirds of children of color need dental care at this very moment.  One half of all adults currently have destructive gum disease.


Today this committee hopes to learn how serious and how widespread dental problems are among the poor.  We will seek a better understanding of the government programs, dental programs, and we hope to find potential solutions to the painful, costly, chronic, and entirely avoidable effects of dental disease.


We have a number of speakers here today.  I’m hoping other members will have an opportunity to join us.  I know they’re running from committee to committee but I believe they’ll be joining us soon.


So our first speaker is Dr. Larry Platt who’s the Executive Director of the Dental Health Foundation.


Welcome, Mr. Platt.  Come up to the podium.


DR. LARRY PLATT:  I’m just going to basically repeat a lot of what you’ve just highlighted but I think it bears repeating.


Good afternoon, Senator Ortiz.  My name is Larry Platt.  I’m a pediatrician by training.  I’m currently serving as Executive Director of the Dental Health Foundation, which is a nonprofit public health agency in Oakland.


I first want to thank the Health Committee for holding these hearings on what the Surgeon General, in his most recent report, referred to as the “silent epidemic”.  I wish to leave you with two main points.  The first is that dental disease is the most common disease of children.  Nothing else comes close to its prevalence.  The second point is, what makes this epidemic particularly tragic is that it is almost entirely preventable.


Dental caries or tooth decay or cavities is a disease that can start as soon as the first tooth erupts.  It’s caused by a bacteria called streptococcus mutans.  This disease is so common and so ignored, that many people do not even know that it’s an infectious disease.  It is our most common infectious disease.  It’s also a disease that doesn’t get better by itself.  Once the infection takes hold and bacteria take up housing, establishing a colony in the pits and the fissures of the tooth, the bacteria thrive, digesting the food, particularly sugar that we eat and drink and perforce share with the bacteria.


Unfortunately, as the bacteria digests the food, they wear away the enamel of the tooth until there is a cavity in the tooth.  When the cavity is deep enough, the nerves find the tooth that’s exposed and a toothache develops.  For those who’ve had the good fortune to never have experienced this pain, let me tell you from personal experience that it’s not a mild pain.  It can be an excruciating, throbbing pain and it’s a pain being experienced by over half of California’s school children who are sitting in classrooms today trying to pay attention in spite of untreated dental disease.


Even before a child reaches school, his or her chance of having this disease is about one in seven.  For those preschoolers in Head Start, as you pointed out, Senator Ortiz, the chance of having untreated dental caries is twice as bad.  This is a preventable disease; but once it spreads to the point of what’s known as early childhood caries, the cost of treatment can be as much as $6,000 so most of it is not treated.  Instead, we have little children, some ashamed to smile, whose ability to learn, to develop speech, to be well nourished, to sleep well, to connect with parents and peers appropriately, and to be free of pain is tragically compromised. 


For both preschoolers and older children who have this infection, since the disease doesn’t get better by itself, it eventually spreads if it’s not treated, infecting other teeth, sometimes getting into the soft tissue, and creating an abscess.  This severe dental disease, disease that involves extensive decay or soft tissue or severe pain affects 21 percent of California’s 10th graders, more than one in five.  Sixty-one percent of our 10th graders also have gum disease sufficiently serious to require professional intervention.  Nationally, children miss 52 million hours of school each year due to oral health problems.


Dental disease, like most other diseases, as you pointed out, affects certain populations disproportionately.  The disparity is such that 20 to 25 percent of the population suffers from about 75 to 80 percent of the tooth decay.  Ironically, it’s the group that most have the greatest need that has the most difficulty accessing dental services.


For reasons that frankly are not clear to me, dental insurance is not part of health insurance.  It’s separately purchased, packaged, and marketed.  Unhappily, many employers that offer medical insurance do not offer dental insurance to their employees.  Nationally, over 100 million people elect dental insurance.  Here in California, for every person without medical insurance – and there are far too many of those, as you highlighted earlier – there are two to three times as many without dental insurance.


An unfortunate consequence of that in Healthy Families programs is that those families who are economically eligible for that program, who have medical insurance, can’t purchase dental insurance separately.  You have to lack both kinds of insurance to qualify.  Unfortunately, there are a lot of families who have medical but not dental insurance.


But beyond the financial barriers, which will be a large part of the discussion later today, there are other barriers to dental care – cultural issues, fear of dentists, lack of awareness of how to prevent dental disease, or the need to see a dentist, inappropriate attitudes about teeth, a mal-distribution of dental professionals, somewhat restrictive practice laws, limited tension to the problem by many of my physician colleagues, and a relative public indifference to the epidemic all contribute to the lack of access to care.  This is on top of all the other issues related to general health access.


The State of California’s response to this epidemic has been notably weak, relative to other states in the nation as a whole.  Where other states use federal maternal and child block grant dollars to address oral health in children, we do not.  Where other states have more liberal licensing of professionals, we are relatively restrictive.  Where other states offer funding for community water fluoridation, we do not.  Where other states have aggressive school-based sealant programs, we are just starting that intervention and only to a limited degree.  Where other states are dealing with such issues as oral cancer screening and media campaigns, we have lacked leadership to address this problem.  Where other states have dental directors, we have not had a competent individual to fill this position, until now.  I’m pleased to note that Dr. Bonta, our Health Director, has just appointed an individual to serve in this post, Dr. Jack Dillenberg.  She’s the first health director to take this seriously in a very long while and I wish to commend her for it.


But as a consequence of the heretofore inadequate attention the state has paid to it, the state of oral health in California is poor.  We received a “C” grade in a recent national report card done by Oral Health America.  I think we were lucky to get that good a grade.


The good news is that we have a lot of opportunity for improvement.


The Dental Health Foundation has been trying to fill the void in oral public health leadership for 14 years.  We’ve overseen the only-needs assessment for oral health in children ever performed in California, copies of which are in the back.  I have one here if you would like it.  We brought together a diverse group of stakeholders to develop a plan for meeting the oral health needs of children, a copy of which I also brought; we have been working on helping communities organize to support fluoridation of their water supplies since our founding; we supported school-based screening and sealant programs in ten counties; developed award-winning materials discouraging the use of chewing tobacco and types of cigars, often forgotten in our focus on cigarettes.


We just initiated a project to work with safety net providers to examine practical solutions to access to oral health services.  We have published materials in early childhood caries in nine languages and just published a book for physicians of how to treat dental emergencies, which I must say we have trouble giving away at $6 a copy.  But we’re a tiny organization in a continuous struggle for dollars to do our work, so I can’t tell you how refreshing it is to see this committee take some interest in these issues.  While it’s overdue, it’s not expected and therefore it’s most appreciated.


I’m delighted, particularly around issues around public insurance programs in oral health, you’ll be spending the time this afternoon hearing about, will include possible solutions because, though I’ve tried to highlight the problem, the other important fact I wanted to leave you with is that this disease, this epidemic, is almost entirely preventable, using technology that exists today.  We have the ability to immunize our population to dental caries.  We can prevent most oral cancer.  It is not expensive, relative to the cost of other chronic diseases or the cost of treatment.  All we need is the political will and we can and will defeat this silent and neglected epidemic.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Dr. Platt. I appreciate that.


Senator Kuehl, any questions?


Our next speaker is Ms. Gail Margolis on the Access to Oral Health Services in the Denti-Cal Program.


Actually, if all participants in this panel, you’re welcome to come up and save us a lot of time.


Welcome, Ms. Margolis.


MS. GAIL MARGOLIS:  Shall I start?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please.


MS. MARGOLIS:  Good afternoon.  My name is Gail Margolis and I am the Department of Health Services’ Deputy Director for the Medical Services.


I would like to thank the Chair and the Senators for the opportunity to present facts about the Denti-Cal program at this informational hearing on Structural Barriers to Accessing Dental Services.  The Medi-Cal Dental Program includes optional adult services under Medicaid, as well as a comprehensive dental program for children.


I would agree with everything that’s been said so far.  Oral diseases and other oral conditions -- tooth decay, gum disease, oral cancer, tooth loss -- are among the most prevalent of all chronic conditions.  Unlike many medical conditions that run their course without the necessity of medical intervention, untreated oral disease typically becomes more and more serious, more difficult, and more expensive to treat.  The consequences of not treating oral disease extend far beyond the severe pain of a toothache or inability to chew food to life’s threatening infections, impaired nutrition, weight loss, failure to thrive, severe disfigurement, psycho-social problems, reduced self-esteem, and even death.


These problems are experienced nationwide and are significant issues in the Medi-Cal program that must be addressed.  Older adults without teeth are at high risk of having oral cancers that could have been detected during an oral examination.  Oral cancer is more common than leukemia, Hodgkin’s disease, and cancers of the brain, liver, bone, thyroid, stomach, ovaries, and the cervix.  More Americans die every year from oral cancer than from cervical cancer.


The history of the Denti-Cal program in a very, very brief sentence, in November ’65, state legislation was enacted and Medi-Cal became effective in March of ’66.  With the advent of Medi-Cal, a wide range of health benefits, including dental services, were provided uniformly to individuals throughout the state and funded primarily by federal and state funds.  In 1974, California entered into a pilot project with California Dental Service later becoming Delta Dental and that relationship continues today.


Services and benefits.  The current Denti-Cal program is a comprehensive program which includes but is not limited to preventive services, restorations, root canals, crowns, dentures once every five years, and orthodontia care.  California is at the top compared with other states in providing services and in the top half of states in its rates paid to providers. Through expanding participation by the dental community and the efficient cost-effective administration of the program, the goal to provide quality dental care to Medi-Cal beneficiaries continues to be achieved.


In calendar year 2000, Denti-Cal served approximately 1,745,000 beneficiaries.  The 2000/2001 Denti-Cal November estimate is $722 million for service costs and is proposed to be $760 million for 2001/2002.  In 2000/2001, state budget added a $80.3 million augmentation to cover the following:  $32.7 million rate increase, $28.6 million for dental cleanings every six months as opposed to prior which had been once a year; $16.4 million for dental exams every six months, again, previously, once per year, per lifetime, per beneficiary, per dentist; and $2.6 million to allow general managed care plans to provide a comparable rate increase and benefit expansion.  As part of the 1989 contract with Delta Dental, a Beneficiary Services Unit was established, which included a dental referral system for beneficiaries and added a beneficiary outreach component in 1991 that focused on underserved counties in California.


Treatment authorization requests, denials, and notification process.  Federal law requires utilization controls to assure proper expenditure of taxpayer funds but especially to protect a beneficiary from unnecessary treatment.  The services requiring prior authorization are hospital care, conscious sedation, periodontal service, root canals, orthodontia, crowns, dentures, both removable and fixed, maxillofacial services, and non-emergency, unlisted services.  All emergency services, preventive services, office visits, fillings, stainless steel crowns, diagnostic services, extractions, and surgical procedures can be performed without prior authorization.


Concerns have been raised that crowns and dentures are routinely denied and then only approved after an administrative hearing is requested.  This is not the case.  For example, crowns and dentures are not indiscriminately denied.  Both dental procedures do require prior authorization and a substantial number of crown and denture requests are denied due to the lack of required documentation being submitted by the dentist to establish medical necessity.


To demonstrate the need for laboratory processed crowns, those are unique crowns where the tooth is filed down, taking imprints to a laboratory and made as opposed to a silver crown and dentures benefits which many states do not provide at all.  The Department uses clinical criteria to establish necessity.  This criteria was developed as part of a legal settlement in 1991.


Due process.  Whenever a beneficiary has a complaint or a grievance concerning the scope of benefits, quality of care, modification, or denial of a claim or a TAR, or any other aspect of services provided under the Denti-Cal program, they have the right to file a formal complaint or appeal the decision.  In the case of a complaint or grievance against a provider, the beneficiary can call or write Denti-Cal through their Beneficiary Services Unit.  The Beneficiaries Services Unit acknowledges any complaint or grievance within three working days of receipt at which time they may be referred to a Denti-Cal dental consultant who will be either contacting the patient and/or provider, examining the patient, referring them to a regional consultant who is an independent, practicing dentist, who has been selected by Denti-Cal on the recommendation of the dental society but does not profit by Denti-Cal patients or referring to the appropriate peer review body.  The beneficiary will then be given a letter within 30 days summarizing Denti-Cal’s conclusions and reasons substantiating their decisions.  If the beneficiary is still not satisfied, they can request a fair hearing, although they may seek a fair hearing without first filing a complaint or grievance.


I would also like to tell you that we are in the process of moving from the eight items listed that summarizes the conclusions and reasons to 44 so that we can be far more specific and clear as to the reason that there was a denial.  Once a hearing is requested, the Department has 30 days to obtain all the necessary information regarding the complaint and prepare a physician statement that is made available to the beneficiary and the administrative law judge.  This position statement is the Department’s testimony or justification of why the request was denied and it includes all laws and rules and regulations cited.


A model comparison, accessing utilization, commercial dental plan versus Denti-Cal.  The administration of the Denti-Cal program differs significantly from the administration of commercial insurance.  A commercial plan will have deductibles, co-insurance, and often an annual limit.  When a commercial plan member is faced with out-of-pocket expenses, the patient, along with the dentist, decide whether the high-cost treatment is the only option or whether an alternative plan is available.


Dentists in the commercial plan are aware of the annual maximum benefit and they usually work within that amount.  Some insurance companies have prior authorization requirements for high-cost treatment, even though the patient will pay 50 percent of the cost.  In the prior authorization process, most companies do not have specific, clinical criteria, merely monetary.


The Denti-Cal program has no deductible, no co-insurance, and no annual maximum.  When there is no out-of-pocket expense to the patient, the state must take on the fiscal controls.  Federal Medicaid law and regulations require utilization controls to assure proper expenditure of taxpayer funds and to protect the beneficiary from unnecessary treatment.  Criteria have been developed to ensure the quality of care and utilization of the program are kept in the best interest of both the patient and the state.  The validity of these clinical measures have been continually scrutinized and re-evaluated by the Department of Health Services, California Dental Association, and the five California Schools of Dentistry.


In addition, the Medi-Cal Dental External Quality Review Group composed of faculty members from the five California dental schools review program criteria, and claims and TAR adjudication accuracy on an annual basis.  With the exception of the approximately 300,000 dental managed care patients, the Denti-Cal program does not assign the remaining 4.5 million beneficiaries to a specific dentist.  There is a network of approximately 11,000 dentists statewide who treat Denti-Cal patients.  Delta Dental has a Beneficiary Services Unit which operates toll-free lines to answer questions about the program from beneficiaries and assist them in obtaining a dentist.  They will respond to written correspondence as well.  In addition, Delta Dental operates an Outreach Unit which is committed to increasing access in the underserved areas of the state.  They have funded mobile vans, new equipment, and new personnel in dental offices to expand the hours of operation.


To enhance coverage in the rural areas of California, the Department administers a rural health demonstration project.  This makes funds available to providers in underserved counties to assist them in providing additional care to Medi-Cal beneficiaries.  The types of services that are funded are equipment, such as X-ray machines, new dental chairs, et cetera, building expansion, and again, mobile dental vans.  Funds for similar services are also made available by the Healthy Families Program.  Members of a commercial dental plan receive information regarding benefits, coverage, and available dentists through mailings and by the commercial plan.  They access care by calling one of the dentists listed in the plan brochure or by contacting the plan’s Member Service Office.  Access to care by Healthy Family beneficiaries is obtained in the following manner:  Members receive information regarding coverage in their own language are issued an ID card, provided a directory, member handbook, educational brochure, and toll-free customer service telephone number.


The Department is completely and deeply committed to providing easy beneficiary access to high-quality dental health services in California.  This commitment is evidenced by the recent enhancements to the Medi-Cal Dental Program, Health Care Financing Administration-sponsored pilot projects to investigate alternative ways to deliver dental care, and the current undertaking to re-engineer the Medi-Cal dental scope of benefits.  The Department welcomes the opportunity to work towards a mutual goal of providing easy access to quality dental care in California.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Ms. Margolis.


I know I have some questions, and other members may, but I think it’s more appropriate when we hear from the rest of the panel to sort of focus our questions on the presentation.


Welcome.


MS. MELISSA RODGERS:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair and Members.


My name is Melissa Rodgers and I’m a Staff Attorney at the Legal Aid Society of San Mateo County.  I represent low-income residents of San Mateo County and in many cases I represent them when they have problems accessing health care.  Thank you for this opportunity to share with you their experiences.


Many of my clients are Medi-Cal beneficiaries.  And over the past two years, I have helped a steady stream of them who have had care denied to them by Denti-Cal.  I have taken many of their cases to hearing, and consistently the administrative law judge has found in favor of my clients.  I do want to acknowledge that in recent months the Denti-Cal program staff has been willing to negotiate with our office to resolve cases and I appreciate it.  It has been very helpful to my clients.  Nonetheless, most low-income people do not have access to an attorney or to the Denti-Cal program staff.  And for this reason, I believe it’s very important to reduce the obstacles that Medi-Cal beneficiaries face when they’re trying to obtain medically necessary dental care.


Today I would like to highlight for you two areas for improvement, the area of medical necessity and children’s dental health.


First, I would like to make the point that medically necessary dental treatment must be authorized.  Currently Denti-Cal relies on the criteria in its provider manual to decide whether or not to authorize a treatment.  For example, a tooth can only be crowned if a certain number of surfaces of the tooth are affected.  This can be a problem for a Medi-Cal beneficiary who may need a crown but not have the requisite number of surfaces of the tooth affected.


Another point, with respect to medical necessity, which I think is very important, is that Denti-Cal should be required to take into account a person’s overall health needs when deciding whether or not a treatment is medically necessary.  I would like to give you an example of what I mean by that.  I had a client who was immune compromised and she was very sick.  She needed a lot of dental work done, but most of her teeth individually taken did not meet the Denti-Cal criteria for the treatment to be authorized.


Her dentist submitted treatment authorization requests, or TARs, to Denti-Cal which were denied, and my client developed abscesses and nearly died as a result of the infections in her mouth because of her reduced immune system.  Had Denti-Cal taken into account her overall health needs and looked at whether or not the services her dentist requested were medically necessary for her, the treatments would have been authorized.


Our office has also represented clients.  I’m thinking of one in particular who needed partial dentures and the dentures were denied to him even though he was suffering from gastro-intestinal problems as a result of not being able to chew.  Partial dentures are not a benefit of the Denti-Cal program except in limited circumstances and those circumstances did not cover him.  I urge you to require Denti-Cal to look at a person’s overall health needs in its utilization review process and to base authorizations and denials on medical necessity rather than solely on the provider manual criteria.


Second, children must receive the full scope of benefits afforded to them under the federal EPSDT program.  EPSDT, which stands for Early and Periodic Screening Diagnosis and Testing, is a program that takes a preventative approach to health care.  It gives children on Medi-Cal access to a wide range of services that they need to stay healthy beyond what the Medi-Cal program allows for adults.


When a dentist requests dental care for a child, the service should be considered for authorization under the more lenient EPSDT standard, which is a standard that looks at maintenance of dental health as opposed to medical necessity.  Though screening and diagnosis services are covered under CHDP, but the treatment services need to be authorized by Denti-Cal.


Today, Denti-Cal does not automatically look at the EPSDT standard when deciding whether to authorize services.  One of my clients is a teenage girl with disabilities who needed periodontal work, deep cleaning, to prevent bone disease and tooth loss.  The Denti-Cal provider manual says that periodontal services are not a benefit for anyone under the age of 18, except in very specific circumstances that did not apply to my client, which is drug-induced gum disease or emergencies.


This exclusion for children under the age of 18 directly contravenes the EPSDT mandate.  My client was denied a service that her dentist said was medically necessary for her.  There should be no such exclusions of treatment for children in the Denti-Cal program.


In addition, if dentists want to have their treatment authorization requests considered under the EPSDT standard, they have to specifically request an EPSDT evaluation and they have to write a lengthy justification that addresses a number of statutory provisions and standards for why this should be authorized under EPSDT.  Not surprisingly, few dentists do this.  Many may not even know that they can request a full range of services for children under the EPSDT program.  There is no box to check on the first sheet of the TAR that says “Please evaluate under EPSDT.”


This program designed to benefit children is unduly burdensome to access under Denti-Cal.  I would propose that all dental care for children be automatically evaluated under the EPSDT standard if the standard of medical necessity alone would lead to a denial.  I would also propose that the process be simplified and clarified for dentists so that the forms are easy to complete correctly the first time around.


I’m happy to answer any questions you may have.


Thank you very much for your time.  And on behalf of low-income San Mateo County residents that I represent, thank you again.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m sure Ms. Margolis will have lots of questions but I know those last couple of points were important that I’m going to want to hear a response to.


Welcome.


MS. ELIZABETH LANDSBERG:  Thank you.


Good afternoon, Senator Ortiz and Committee Members.


My name is Elizabeth Landsberg and I’m the Supervising Attorney of the Health Rights Hotline here in Sacramento.  We’re an independent assistance program for health care consumers.  I very much appreciate this opportunity to come together with other stakeholders in the Denti-Cal program to talk about the experiences our low-income callers have when they try to access dental services.


As has been discussed, the Denti-Cal regulations and provider manuals set forth what the covered services are and there’s three different categories.  There’s services that are approved without prior authorization so the dentists can go ahead and provide them like cleanings for kids.  Then there are on the other end of the spectrum categories of services that are categorically denied, like partial dentures in almost all circumstances.  And then in the middle are certain procedures which are approved under certain circumstances if the provider goes through the TAR, the treatment authorization request process, such as full dentures and crowns and that sort of thing.


The rigidity of the system, the three categories, as well as the way the authorization process works, in fact, is interfering with low-income Californians’ needs to get access to health care.


First of all, the categorically excluded services create an obvious barrier.  There are some cases in which these services are needed and lead to some medically problematic results.  For example, partial dentures are only covered if they’re needed to balance out a full denture.  So the hotline has had a number of callers who have gone to their dentists.  The appropriate thing would be for them to get a partial denture.  But because Denti-Cal doesn’t cover partial denture, their dentist recommends pulling healthy teeth and then having a full denture approved for them because the extractions and full dentures can be approved.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I just am really shocked at hearing this.


Ms. Margolis, at some point I’m going to want a response to that one, for sure.


MS. LANDSBERG:  Another hurdle to dental care is the cumbersome authorization process.  And while we certainly understand the need for authorizations, both in terms of fiscal concerns and to protect beneficiaries from unnecessary procedures, in our experience, there are routine denials of things like crowns, root canals, and orthodontia services.  As a result, people who need these services can’t access them unless they go through the fair hearing process which is obviously a very daunting process.  The frequent denials by Denti-Cal which are often reversed by administrative law judges can cause pain and medical problems, for example, if a patient is unable to eat solid foods.  I am pleased that we are sometimes able to work with the providers and with Denti-Cal to get previously denied services approved but also believe that the current system is more cumbersome than it needs to be and it’s preventing people from getting needed dental work.


The routine denial of certain services has also caused some providers to stop requesting them altogether.  We got a call from the mother of a 12-year-old who had been having some dental problems for a year.  Her teeth are crowding and causing some pretty severe pain in her face, enough that she missed some school.  She went to the orthodontist who said, yes, she needed orthodontic care.  But in his opinion, though it was medically necessary, it would be denied so he didn’t want to even bother trying to submit the authorization request.


Another problem our callers have faced is, that once a provider does submit an authorization, the denial notices don’t have adequate information and I’m glad to hear you say that you’ll increase the number of action codes, explanation codes, because currently, for example, we had an 11-year-old whose dentist requested three root canal treatments and Denti-Cal denied the authorization.  So currently, the provider submits the authorization and then gets a form back and it just says whether each procedure was denied or approved and then gets an action code.


So, for example, in this case, for an 11-year-old, the root canal was denied and it gave Action Code 6 and that’s defined as follows:  “The request for dental treatment cannot be authorized due to insufficient or missing information.  Your dentist may submit new information.”


So in that case, neither the dentist nor the patient have any idea what information is needed.  In this case, the mother persevered.  She called the hotline.  Our hotline counselor then called Delta Dental and Delta Dental explained that the improper X-rays were submitted so we were then able to talk to the provider and get the provider to submit the required X-rays.  But because the basis of the denials have been so vague in the past, it’s difficult for providers to know what’s needed for resubmission.


We would hope that we could develop a new system whereby, when an authorization is denied, the reason is laid out clearly with missing information identified and the authority for the denial reference so that, for example, it could refer the provider back to the Denti-Cal manual so that he or she could look to see what’s required and what’s missing in this case.


Then finally, I want to mention two other issues that we frequently hear from our Denti-Cal callers.  One is language barriers and the other is the lack of available providers.  Many of the dental plans, I think, have good systems in place to provide interpretive services and to serve the needs of patients who speak languages other than English.  I think the Spanish-speaking population is reasonably well served, at least from the calls that we get, but the Health Rights Hotline does receive numerous calls from people in the Hmong community.  We have a Hmong counselor who’s really wonderful and is very well tapped into the community and she gets a lot of calls from folks who have basic access problems.  They don’t know what dentist they have or dental plan they have.  They call the dentist’s office and are unable to make an appointment.  Or when they get to the dentist’s office, they’re unable to communicate with the dentist.  This creates some obvious barriers to getting care.


I certainly realize that it’s a very daunting task to accommodate the many languages that the patients speak in our communities, but I do hope that the providers will continue to work with staff, to continue to work to hire staff who speak the languages in our community, and continue to try to do things like use telephone interpretive services, which is what some of the offices have done to accommodate non-English speaking clients.


Then briefly, low-income communities have a real problem which is access to Denti-Cal providers.  We’re affiliated with Legal Services of Northern California, and someone in the Chico office explained to me that she has folks who have to drive hours to Sacramento to specifically get access to orthodontia as there aren’t enough orthodontists and other specialists so the people in our rural communities are having to travel really far distances to get dental services.


So thank you very much for this opportunity to share some of the experiences of our Denti-Cal callers to the Health Rights Hotline.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Dr. Jacks.


DR. SCOTT JACKS:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair and Members.


My name is Dr. Scott Jacks.  I’m a pediatric dentist in Southgate, California.  My practice, Children’s Dental Group, is located in a largely working class, Hispanic neighborhood in LA County.  The office is one of the largest pediatric dental offices in the state, and our 20-doctor group is one of the biggest single-office Denti-Cal and Healthy Families participants in these programs.  We provide care to both fee-for-service, dental plans, and HMO capitated managed care plans in both the Denti-Cal program and in the Healthy Families program.


Young children in both programs come to our office with significant dental needs.  It’s not uncommon for our office to see children a year of age or younger.  These young children present with early childhood caries usually caused by improper night-time bottle feeding.  The problem can cause massive dental decay and abscessed teeth.  To treat these problems, we may need to sedate the children and then do fillings, nerve treatments, crowns, extractions, and space maintainers.  If left untreated, these problems can cause severe pain and infections that can spread beyond the mouth.


Permanent teeth can be harmed and mal-occlusions can occur, crooked teeth.  Severe dental problems can lead to malnutrition, poor self-esteem, and an inability to thrive at school.


I submitted to your aide some pictures, just different types of decay.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Members, you probably have in front of you the visuals.  Let’s have those circulated.  We have one other copy.  Thank you for those.


DR. JACKS:  And as you can see, there’s different types of decay.  In the severe decay, the teeth can all be restored except in the case of the severe decay which you see where the teeth need to be extracted.


It is my understanding that the Denti-Cal and Healthy Families programs were developed to address these dental problems and to provide access to dental care for the children of our state.  Unfortunately, there are still many barriers that must be overcome if these goals are to be met.  Our office experience has shown significant differences between the Healthy Families population and the Denti-Cal population.  The majority of the Healthy Families population has been underserved historically.  As a result, they need 35 percent more work per child than the Denti-Cal patients.  Now these statistics came from a study of the close to 2,300 Healthy Families patients we saw last year in our practice.  In addition, they access the program at a rate three times the rate of the Denti-Cal patients.  So in other words, in a population of 1,000, we would see 900 patients from Healthy Families come into our office whereas in a comparable population of 1,000, we may only see 300 of Denti-Cal patients.


This problem is due to a couple of factors.


First, this may be the only time that these patients have had access to dental insurance for their dental care.


Second, there is a small premium that they are required to pay in order to participate in the Healthy Families program.  Most people who have to pay for something will utilize it.  In contrast, Denti-Cal Families are more likely to access the dentist episodically, possibly only when they are in pain or the need strikes them. The result, as I previously stated, is that there is a significant behavioral difference between the two populations and it causes the Healthy Families population to access our office at three times the rate.


The first year of our participation of Healthy Families program, we participated in the Delta fee-for-service plan and two capitated or HMO models.  Our office, one of the only pediatric dental offices in the state participating in the capitated Healthy Families program -- after one year, we discontinued providing care to patients in one of the capitation programs due to the extremely low reimbursement.  We continued with one cap plan and the Dental plan in the second year.  Starting in July of the third year, Delta stopped accepting new patients in Los Angeles County.  Now there is no fee-for-service option in Los Angeles for new patients.  I want to mention that Delta has announced that they are going to come back and accept more new patients.  But at present, there are only three capitated plans remaining.


Yesterday, we notified our last capitated plan that we would no longer take new patients.  The reason we have done this is because the capitation program reimburses its providers at a rate of 50 percent of the fee-for-service Healthy Families program which is the same rate as Denti-Cal.  We cannot continue to lose money on every Healthy Families patient we treat.  We literally lose money for every patient we see in that program.  The Denti-Cal program problems are different but they’re not as severe.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just make sure I understand you.


You’re saying that patients are accessing Healthy Families at a higher rate.


DR. JACKS:  And they have more work that needs to be done per patient.  And the cap rate that we are paid is actually lower.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Under Healthy Families than under Denti-Cal?


DR. JACKS:  Yes.  And so it becomes quite a problem.


As I said, the Denti-Cal program’s problems are different but not as severe.  Access continues to be a problem, particularly in rural areas.  The problem is most severe for young patients.  Presently, few pediatric dentists participate.  One of the most significant issues is inadequate coverage for in-office sedation.  Ideally, with young children, you want to bring in a dental anesthesiologist who can sedate the child, or put the child to sleep in the office and you can do the treatment.  That procedure usually runs at least to $500.  And as such, it becomes prohibitive and becomes a real problem and results in limited access for that care.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I want you to continue but I just want to make a point.


Ms. Margolis, at some point, I’d like you to address that very issue for children in general but as well as persons with developmental disabilities that would be more likely to require sedation as well.  You know, how are they approved in both examples and to what extent is sedation approved for each of those categories for young children, as well as persons, whether young or old, with developmental disabilities, have proved to be more fairly difficult to serve and treat unless sedated.


Please continue.  I apologize.


DR. JACKS:  For many youngsters, this becomes a major barrier for access to dental care.  Other significant issues are no coverage for white, stainless steel crowns and upper front teeth.  That’s the only way to restore many of these front teeth or with the unsightly steel caps.  Again, I provided some pictures and you can see.  I also provided some pictures where you can see other ways of restoring the teeth with white crowns.


If a dentist chooses to restore a molar with more costly white fillings in the back teeth, they are not allowed to, even if they’re willing to accept the lower reimbursement for a silver filling.  So in other words, when I’ve called up Denti-Cal and said, look, I really want to do white fillings, can I be reimbursed at the alloy filling at the silver rate, the answer is no; there’s no provision.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me make sure I understand.  You’re willing to absorb even more of the cost to put in a white filling?


DR. JACKS:  And I’ve asked Denti-Cal, okay, will you reimburse me at the rate of a silver filling?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Of a silver filling, the lower cost?


DR. JACKS:  The program doesn’t allow for that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  We’re going to want to hear a response to that as well.  I think her job is getting more difficult as you speak.  


DR. JACKS:  The average overhead to run a dental office continues to rise.  Denti-Cal fees have not kept pace with the rise in the cost of living.  As a result, access for Denti-Cal patients continues to be a problem. Many dental offices cannot afford to treat this population.  In order for more dental offices to participate, it is essential that dentists be paid at a level that will cover their basic overhead.


I believe that adequate in-office sedation coverage at a 20 percent increase in the fees for preventive, diagnostic and basic restorative procedures would enable many dentists to once again participate in the Denti-Cal program.  Another possible addition to the program would be to include some type of management fee for difficult young patients or developmentally disabled patients.


In conclusion, if there are limited state dollars to improve these programs, I would like to see the financial inequities between the two programs resolved, Healthy Families and Denti-Cal, so that the Healthy Families’ capitated model reimbursement to providers is at least equalized and comparable to the fee-for-service Denti-Cal program.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


I certainly have some questions, some that I’ve already indicated, but I want to give Senator Ed Vincent an opportunity, if you have specific questions.


SENATOR EDWARD VINCENT:  You know, like many areas of education that we’ve talked about in the industry, and I’ve been through some of these things, I know somebody mentioned Delta but nobody mentioned – I got here late.  But anyway, I went to my dentist just to have my teeth cleaned.  She told me that I had to go to an orthodontist so she referred me to one.


Well, what I went through, you know, I can understand this Healthy Families thing and this capitation thing.  But it’s kind of alarming when you say that a kid goes in there, he’s got a healthy tooth and they pull it out to save money.  I mean that’s kind of alarming to give information like that.


Also, to be perfectly honest with you, everything we talk about is money, money.  I mean when I went to my orthodontist and I went there – and I have good care, good health insurance, and it still costs me about $4,000.  It still costs about $4,000.  And a lot of times, not only do you have to pay, but to be honest with you, it hurts.  People aren’t really just dying to go to a dentist.


It seems to me that some of the things that we possibly should be doing in the future is maybe making it less painful when you go to a dentist, you know, because people are afraid of that; they really are.  And I feel very uncomfortable doing that, when I go in sometimes.


When I was born and raised back in Ohio, and I’m sorry to say this – I was looking at your statistics, Madam Chair, it’s great – but just about everybody that went to school with me, they don’t have any teeth.  They don’t because they don’t have the money to do it and they just lose their teeth.  In this capitation thing, if you look at it realistically, just put yourself in that position, a kid comes to our, a kid or an adult, comes through an HMO program, which is very hard to do in the first place, and the orthodontist or let’s say the dentist could look at A, B, C, D and look at these kids or adults.  If he’s not going to make any money, he’s not going to do what he has to do.  Maybe they do have some cavities and maybe they do need some crowns, but nothing’s going to happen.  So where do we go on that?  What do we do about that?  What can the state legislature do about that?


MS. MARGOLIS:  Well, that’s a huge challenge to address all of those questions.  Let me try to respond, globally first and then a little more specifically, if I can.


Senator Vincent, nice to see you again.


Certainly, any problem with a child who legitimately seeks care or an adult, for that matter, needing care, that has to go through difficult hoops is a very important one to resolve and I’m very sensitive about that and we want to resolve that.


I just want to give you some overall background that we have to face, and perhaps all of us together can talk about some policies that would be a little more sensitive to the beneficiaries and yet not completely compromise what I’ve been given the responsibility to do and, that is, to reduce the number of fraudulent victimizations of children and young adults by unscrupulous so-called providers.  I’m not talking about any of the wonderful providers that are in our system but we can talk a little about fraud later.


For example in the crown and denture denials which you spoke of earlier, approximately 55 percent of the fair hearing cases for crowns and dentures are approved only after we receive the information.  So, for example, the general rule on an 11-year-old child doesn’t need three root canals.  So the Department would ask for some proof, an X-ray.  You don’t want an innocent child being a victim of a fraudulent person saying this child needs three root canals because I’m going to make money on it, so we’re going to say we must see an X-ray to show that this child really needs this kind of care.  Then when we got the proper X-ray, it was approved.  I that think the Department needs to do some more work with the dentist to make sure they can clearly and quickly and correctly identify themselves as good providers and their children as necessary patients who need the care and not look like something that really needs further review.  I would definitely accept and anticipate some assistance in how you think we might best be able to differentiate at the earliest basis because that’s what we’re trying to do, not deny care.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The question that I was struck with, I mean is there no uniform, readily understood, simple boiler plate, this is what you need to do, these three things, to demonstrate and to document on the front end?  I mean is the Department doing a good enough job providing that technical assistance in a timely, readily understood manner so that we can narrow the number of appeals and denials?  I mean I want to hear from both sides on that.  I don’t know whether the Department’s embarked upon a new procedure, is looked and reviewed at whether or not that information has been made clear enough in a standardized format to be shared.  There’s got to be something better than what we’ve seen here.


MS. MARGOLIS:  If I may, I’d like to answer your question in just a moment and just finish the two other numbers, just to give a full picture.


So of the 100 percent of their hearings, 55 percent are granted once we get the documentation.  So over half would, I think, be resolved, based on what you were saying with a caveat in a moment.  One-third of the hearing requests involving crowns or dentures that go to actual hearings are either dismissed or denied by the administrative law judge, not by our department.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which means two-thirds are granted.


MS. MARGOLIS:  Well, 50 percent are granted before going to a hearing.  It’s just when we get the proof, that yes, this child needed the root canal because of proper X-ray.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And then the remaining one-third are denied?


MS. MARGOLIS:  Remaining 12 percent involving crowns or dentures are approved by the administrative law judge after the hearing has been concluded.  So 12 percent go to a full hearing and are approved.  Half, the significant majority, are resolved before the hearing and a third are denied.


What I wanted to get to, in direct answer to your question, one of the tremendous challenges we have in this constant balance between access and ease is fraud.  So when you suggest a how-to manual, then whenever we provide certain kinds of ease, and I won’t say education because it’s very different, but something that would be very easy, how to bill Medi-Cal for this type of procedure, we see a spike in fraud because it’s almost like an open door, and I’m happy to share the statistics.  And if you have ideas, I very much want to accomplish the goal of increasing access, decreasing difficulty of filing claims, approving proper claims as quickly as possible, and yet not unnecessarily compromising the fraud.


I will point out to you that an example of fraud that we face, and these are by absolute criminals, not by 99.9 percent of the practicing dentists in the State of California, but we have dentists who will drill a pinhole in a child’s tooth so that he can’t be accused of fraudulently billing for something he never did.  He can say he had a filling and he drilled a hole as opposed to not touching the tooth at all which is clear fraud because you’re billing for nothing.  So they go ahead and drill them.


We have children who have had ten, 12, 15 teeth drilled and filled for no reason whatsoever where mom and dad never had any evidence of tooth decay; grandparents never had a cavity, great-grandparents.  And you know how effective heredity is in terms of predicting those conditions.  So we do have absolute horrible fraud where children are victims.  And when you have the number of claims we have, we have ways that we try to streamline approvals and then others fall out.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  At some point, I’m really curious to see whether we’re seeing comparable fraud in healthy families.


MS. MARGOLIS:  Let me speak to the commercial market for a moment.  When you have the kind of co-pays that you have, it is less likely for a person to be as victimized because they ask the dentist questions.  In other words, when I have to shell out $500 or $1,000 for this procedure, I don’t know that I really want it.  Once you start questioning a fraudulent person, not a legitimate dentist who can prove that you need whatever you need, but a fraudulent, they say, well, never mind, maybe you don’t need it because they don’t want to expose themselves.  So that’s where we’re really frustrated.  We don’t want to create co-pays or deductibles or anything like that system because we think that would hurt access.  It’s probably also inconsistent with federal law.  But that’s not an interest to make it difficult for legitimate people to get care.


How do you screen out only the bad and make it as painless as possible for the good?  Let me just make a couple more comments.


Sedation, I think, is a problem.  What I understand, and again, I’m relatively new to this position, but for almost 20 years, the rates have been very, very poor and those were prior administrations in recession times.  Last year, the administration worked very hard on the overall rate.  This is the first time we had a significant rate increase across the board.  This year, we’re working on a scope of services.  I think sedation is one of the things we look at.  I think that the request or the voluntary nature of being willing to do a white crown and being paid for a steel crown without being denied has got to be an incredible frustration.


However, I think that when you openly assert – this is going to sound technical, but when you openly assert, what I’d like to do is different than what I’m going to put on the form, then it gets into claims of fraud and maybe there’s a more clever way we can address something like that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Why not just put a box in it that says I’m willing to put in a white crown and only get paid for a lesser amount?


MS. MARGOLIS:  I think we’ll do somewhat differently maybe with a discount or something because we have to, again, I don’t want to invite fraudulent people to say, okay, I’m going to check this box and they’ll think I’m one of those great guys who’s taking money and all I’m going to do is a pinhole.  I won’t even do a crown at all.  They’ll never know.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Questions from members?


SENATOR VINCENT:  Ms. Margolis, is Mr. Finnecan your boss?


MS. MARGOLIS:  No.  Diana Bontá the brilliant director, who has just brought a dentist to the State of California, is my boss.


SENATOR VINCENT:  The statements I made, it was facts.  What we were talking about was facts.  Number two, the statements I made about where I came from with the kids and adults, no teeth, is a fact.  You prefaced your remarks with kind of like I have to do what I have to do because I’ve been told to do it and I understand that too.


But, you know, and Madam Chair, you’ve done a beautiful job in presenting us this background structural barriers to accessing dental services and you also have this article in here, Oral Health 2000, facts and figures.  These facts and figures are alarming.  This is not fraud.  This isn’t fraud.


MS. MARGOLIS:  It’s education.


SENATOR VINCENT:  They’re going to put fraud out there.  I mean I understand – in other words, you’re in a very hot seat, I think, because people aren’t going to access to dental care.  It’s not happening.  And you can’t use, some of the examples you used – well, we’d like to do this but a lot of people are playing games with us.  People are not getting dental care.  They’re not getting access to it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just build on it because I think it’s important.  The examples, I guess one question would be, what are the actual rates of fraud, and hold off before you answer that.  I want to know.  I mean is the tail wagging the dog here?


Second, the examples you’ve cited are on fillings which don’t require prior authorization in terms of drilling the hole.


MS. MARGOLIS:  That’s exactly right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But we’ve heard lots of problems with obstacles with the prior authorization examples.  I want you to address those obstacles that are being created as a result of the prior authorization process.


So first, actual rates of fraud; and two, the obstacles to the prior authorization procedures.


MS. MARGOLIS:  Well, your assessment that I’m on the hot seat is most astute.  (Laughter)


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m trying to be nice with that information.


MS. MARGOLIS:  Just to give you how warm it is, I have a news release from the Governor today on Governor Davis launches a strike to prevent dental fraud.  Fraud prevention specialists will perform onsite assessments designed to more quickly identify providers’ risk for potential fraud of dentists who claim $75,000 or more in Medi-Cal payments in 2000, for our prevention specialists will identify high-risk operations for follow-up reviews by investigators and so on.  So it is, to give you an idea on the magnitude of the fraud, today’s action against Denti-Cal fraud is a continuation of fraud of the Governor’s prevention activities was to become the most aggressive effort ever undertaken in California to prevent Medi-Cal fraud.


I apologize to…


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m still waiting to hear the…

MS. MARGOLIS:  I was just getting ready to redo the numbers.  I’m hoping these are dental but I think it may be Medi-Cal and dental, but the numbers I have here is with, it’s got to be both, withheld a billion, 183, from providers suspected of fraudulent billing, I think this is a mixture of medical and dental.  Let me try to get the…


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But it’d be helpful to get that information on the actual rates of fraud.


MS. MARGOLIS:  Well, the ones again that we’re seeing…


SENATOR ORTIZ:  In Denti-Cal.


MS. MARGOLIS:  And I will absolutely give it to the committee, they’re also so alarming, I mean the fact that you would do that to a child is so upsetting that we really want to ferret it out.  But I’m not using fraud as the sole reason.  I think it’s important to go back to the miscommunication and misunderstanding, perhaps difficulty of the forms.  We want proper need to be addressed quickly and not have to go almost to a hearing in order to figure out which X-rays are needed but far earlier in the game and we’ll work on that.  I promise you.


But we have that issue.  We have the access issue.  I can’t make dentists accept Medi-Cal.  We’ve done some surveys in there but some national surveys where in 15 states where they raised the rate significantly, in 14 states, there was no difference in the interest and participation of dentists.  So even though we raised the rates, and I believe in raising the rates, I think it would be naïve to think that’s going to solve the problem.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I want to hear from the advocates because I think they really have some questions that we need to discuss.


MS. LANDSBERG:  One of the things I just want to raise is, with the treatment authorization requests, what I was talking about, with the notices, I mean your own statistics were that 50 percent of denied services, that once there’s a fair hearing that those settle, once the proper documents are given, but dentists have no idea what they haven’t submitted.


You know, we require our health plans under Knox-Keene, when they give a denial letter, to give the reason, to cite to a portion of the evidence of coverage or a regulation that explains that denial, and I think we’ve got to ask the same of Denti-Cal so providers don’t get so sick of re-submitting these authorizations.  Their kids and adults aren’t getting their services.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Particularly since, by your own omission, it’s hard to find providers to participate.  Then we ought not to be providing greater disincentive for them to participate.


MS. MARGOLIS:  Adding new codes to denial forms will make a huge difference.  It would be very specific.


DR. JACKS:  Can I address this issue?

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please.

DR. JACKS:  In talking to providers, in questioning that statistic that was just quoted, that raising the fees didn’t bring significant providers into the program, I think the issue was that fees were so low to begin with, well below the cost of providing that care, that even when they were raised in some of these states, it still didn’t come up to that level, of cost of delivering that care, so there was no incentive for additional providers to come into the program.  While they did raise the fees, it wasn’t to that critical threshold to bring them in.  There is a threshold where, at a minimum, it will meet the cost of their overhead.


You know, our office is a participant. We’ve worked with the Denti-Cal program.  We’re happy with the Denti-Cal program. We would like to see some of the problems that I addressed resolved.  But it works for us.  But in talking to providers across the state, particularly in rural areas, access is a major issue and maybe because they’re smaller offices and not as efficient, they cannot afford to deliver the care at the present reimbursement rate, and it does need to come up to at least attract additional providers, particularly in those areas where access is such an issue.  Access seems to be less of an issue in the large urban areas.  But as you move away from those areas, there are significant problems.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.

MS. RODGERS:  I wanted to say that I’m concerned by the suggestion that a way to prevent fraud is to keep the process opaque for dentists.


The dentists that I talked to when I’m working with a client have told me they don’t have time to read the provider manual.  It’s bulky; it’s big.  They have very busy practices.  They serve a lot of people.  The provider manual, as it stands, is difficult enough to read.  I think that simplifying the manual would increase access for clients.  I also think that on the…


SENATOR ORTIZ:  This is the manual that they must go through?


MS. RODGERS:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  This is just one chapter of the manual, I understand.


MS. RODGERS:  I have the manual in my office.  Yes, that looks thinner than what I have.  (Laughter)


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  We like visuals in committee from time to time.


MS. RODGERS:  I’ve also been told by some dentists that they think about dropping Denti-Cal clients, patients, because the process is so cumbersome and because it increases their overhead to have to submit treatment authorization requests several times and dig though charts and have to provide documentation over and over again.


So I would also say that, I mean I don’t know anything about fraud prevention, but I would guess that there has to be some technology available that can be used to identify the people who are sending in claims for very high amounts of money.  I would think then in the Denti-Cal context, fraud would only be profitable in fairly high volume.


That’s all.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Are there are questions from other members?


MS. MARGOLIS:  Well, I don’t know what more to add.  Let me just say that I would agree that there are some real important issues and financing is one of them, clearly. But in addition, our policies and administrative procedures need to be streamlined as much as possible and we’ll work on that.  We are working, as I said, on those issues this year.  We started rates last year.


We need to communicate more and more among the major stakeholders and make them as educated as possible without it being completely cumbersome.  It’s challenging to me to say they don’t want to read the manual because that’s where it is but I understand how difficult that is.


You know, we have to value oral health.  A lot of people don’t value oral health. I think those examples of the baby bottle are perfect. We need to educate parents.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wait a minute.  Let me make sure I understand.  You’re suggesting that some parents who may not know that drinking a bottle – you’re suggesting we don’t value – parents don’t value dental health?


MS. MARGOLIS:  A lot of parents don’t know this isn’t right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right.  That’s different than saying they don’t value dental health.


MS. MARGOLIS:  I said value oral health in the sense of prioritization, that it can be as serious and long run and prevention is so much simpler than physical, other kinds of physical.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So when children are denied annual exams or treatments or, you know, I think when you pull teeth rather than fill them, I think education is required on both sides.  I think it’s important.


Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  I think that actually, even in the short time that I’ve been in the legislature, that it’s been clear to me that many of us are of the opinion there’s been an undue emphasis on fraud and not as much attention paid, as we would personally like, to the issues of getting services out to people and that’s been a constant tension, as the advocates know and the Department knows, in everything, especially in terms of those who are low income and need to rely on government benefits or government services, especially but not only.


I think what we’re deciding here as we go along is, that whether the majority of us are going to emphasize services and de-emphasize a little bit this issue of fraud and there sometimes brings us into conflict with the Governor about it but that’s okay for a legislature to be in conflict with the Governor.  It’s not generally as okay for DHS.  (Laughter)  I understand that and so it is a hot seat, Ms. Margolis, but obviously you’re here.  You send us a message; we’re sending a message back through you but it’s not a message that only has to go to Director Bonta through you.  It’s a conversation that we’ve had.


I think the other thing too is, so far, and I expect we’ll hear more as we go along, the de-emphasis in overall medical services on dental health is one I think we can all agree on, that there have not been emphases placed on services, on payment, on sufficient payment, on level of service, et cetera, for a whole population, and especially for all of our children.  We’re having enough trouble getting health care for all of our children.  But when we do, we want to pay attention to this as an aspect of basic health which generally, you know, it’s not.  We have separate insurance.  We’re lucky here we get dental insurance.  But this is the first job in my whole life, I’ve ever had, where I had dental insurance.  I had sort of medical insurance but never dental.  So I could get everything fixed but my teeth and my eyeglasses.  Maybe it came when I needed it.


So I think we can certainly find common ground to work together to improve these services, and the Chair is extremely worried about access to services, as we are in terms of children’s health across the board.  So any cooperation that we can engage in with DHS and any help we can give to people in DHS who themselves would like to place a little more emphasis on services, I think we can find some common ground.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I was hoping the transition but thank you, Senator Kuehl, and certainly Senator Vincent, for listening through this panel.  We have one more panel.


Just let me, as we transition, I just want to make a comment.  I mean as one of those children who didn’t access dental care until my parents were divorced and my mother was fortunate enough to get welfare – I know it was a hard time finding a dentist in Sacramento to treat children, but I was probably 12 or 13 and had probably at least four fillings and a tooth pulled.  So it’s sad to see that even today that we’re seeing those kinds of challenges with poor children.


I just want us as a state to embrace this and obviously be aware of fraud and obviously be vigilant about it, but I want us also to understand that there might be a better way to removing some of the obstacles to access that are not fraud-related.  We’ve just got to get a little closer to that connection.


Thank you, and I’m going to go ahead and invite the other panel forward.  As the panel is coming forward, I know one of the questions I had, and it was -- either Ms. Margolis can stay or Ms. Shewry.


MS. MARGOLIS:  Ms. Shewry can stay.  (Laughter)


SENATOR ORTIZ:  She says, I hope.


In Sacramento, the Department has increased utilization by 10 percent by assigning beneficiaries a primary care dentist, but then the Department dropped this improvement which was – well, it makes me wonder that if some of the reason behind the higher utilization of Healthy Families is due to the fact that in Healthy Families parents choose their dental providers up front when they can sign up for the program.


So I guess I want an explanation for those numbers in Sacramento when the Department increases the utilization by 10 percent by assigning beneficiaries to primary care dentists.  But then the Department changed that procedure and dropped that improvement, is my understanding.


MS. MARGOLIS:  I think you’re referring to Sacramento and GMC and I’m afraid I don’t know specifically, but I’ll try to either have somebody come up and explain or get back to you so you can respond in the panel.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are we the only county in the state using geographic managed care?


MS. MARGOLIS:  No.  There are a couple of others.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  San Diego.  Okay.


MS. MARGOLIS:  But every county has got different systems.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Welcome.  Let me ask the members of the participants in the Access to Dental Services in the Healthy Families Program.


I want to welcome you and ask you to introduce yourselves.  Welcome, Ms. Shewry.


MS. SANDRA SHEWRY:  Introductions or jump in?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’re well known here as well.  Let’s hope your seat isn’t quite as hot.


MS. SHEWRY:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz and Senators.  My name is Sandra Shewry. I’m the Executive Director of the Managed Risk Medical Insurance Board.  I’m joined here today by Lorraine Brown to my right.  She’s our Deputy Director for Benefits.  Lorraine would probably be giving you this presentation but she has laryngitis.  So if…


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Lucky you, Ms. Brown.


MS. SHEWRY:  We passed out a handout that provides an overview of dental coverage in the Healthy Families program.  The sergeant just distributed it.  I’m going to talk from that handout.


All children enrolled in Healthy Families are covered by a comprehensive dental plan.  And as you just pointed out, families do select their children’s dental plan from a list of plans in each county.  As of March of 2001, this month, over 390,000 children are enrolled in Healthy Families and this first page shows the distribution by dental plan.  I think that the type and model of dental plan we use is germane to a discussion of Healthy Families.  We want to be sure that you have the picture.


Delta Dental is the largest provider.  We just added universal this benefit year and so their enrollment is just beginning.


I would also note, just as a contextual point, that California chose to have a dental benefit in its children’s health insurance program.  It is not required by federal law, so the state did step out and say we value oral health and we want the benefits so that’s a good base to start from and in our proposal for parental coverage in Healthy Families, we are also proposing to extend benefits to parents.


The second page shows you the benefits.  These are the benefits that everyone here who is employed by the State of California receives through the Department of Personnel Administration negotiation.  We adopted that same benefit package in Healthy Families, very good coverage, basically at a par with the best employer plans, and we’ve shown you there the co-payments.


You can see most of the diagnostic and preventive services are provided without a co-payment -- no co-payment for an exam, for X-rays, for sealants, and there are some co-payments.  They’re all restricted to $5.  No service has a co-payment of higher than $5.


Obviously important to the discussion of access is how many dentists are participating in the program.  We’ve given you a map on Page 3 of the handout that shows by county what we believe is an unduplicated count of the number of dentists providing.  We think we have just over 6,800 dentists participating statewide, and obviously the largest county in the program, the county where most, where the largest number of uninsured and eligible children reside is Los Angeles, about 2,800 dentists participating there.


Where do we come up with these numbers?  We come up with them from our dental plan partners, that is, what we did is we took the list that each dental plan provided us and we unduplicated the count.  If you look at Page 4, you can see, that while we believe there are just under 7,000 dentists participating, Table 2 is the year, 2001 data, there’s about 13,000 dentists when you don’t unduplicate them.  So that means that probably 6,000 or 7,000 dentists are participating in more than one of the plans in Healthy Families.


We also ask our plans to indicate to us what percent of the dentists are taking new patients, and you can see what they told us in January of this year.  Basically all but Denti-Care have in the high 90s accepting new patients.  Denti-Care reported 85 percent of their panel was taking new patients.  Obviously, you don’t want to eliminate a dentist from your panel when they stop taking new patients because they have an existing client load and you are hoping that they will open their panel back up to your patients.


Page 5, I won’t dwell on it really.  It’s into a county-by-county analysis of the ratio of subscribers to dentists.  We provide this simply for background information.  Healthy Families is not the only client load of any dentist in the State of California, and so we don’t mean to imply that these ratios indicate that this is how many patients any one of these dentists see but just to show what proportion of a caseload we might represent.


The Department of Managed Health Care uses a standard that was developed for health plans so it was a medical standard in terms of the patient-to-provider ratios.  They looked at a one provider to 1,200 patients for general dentists and 1:2,000 for all dentists, when you include the specialists.  Sometimes I get those backwards.  It’s 1:1,200 and 1:2000.  So we only show you these numbers to show that there’s a lot of room there and, of course, these dentists have another caseload.


We have done quite a bit of research, and a lot of the documents that were in your briefing packet are very good on this point that indicate that California does have a pediatric dental shortage.  I know this committee is not necessarily workforce development.  It is not your entire focus but that is clearly an area where we see we do not have enough pediatric dentists in California.  It’s been targeted as a nationwide issue and we certainly here have that concern, and Healthy Families being in the market will suffer from any shortage of trained professionals.  So the lack of pediatric dentists in the state impacts us as it impacts Medi-Cal, as it impacts the Cal-PERS benefit program.


One thing that Gail Margolis mentioned is the Rural Health Demonstration Projects.  MRMIB does administer $6 million a year in addition to our basic contracts with health, dental, and vision plans to try to increase access in rural areas and for special populations.


Last year, we spent 77 percent of the funds on dental projects.  Clearly, when you talk to dental community groups or dental providers or rural providers, dental is the issue and what we hear is we need more practitioners, we need more access to specialty care.  So with our rural health demonstration money, we fund mobile dental plans that go out into rural communities.  They usually set up next to a school or a community site.


We ask them when they can to send out postcards to all the Healthy Family members before they arrive so that they know when they’re coming, and the vans are also available to other families in that community.  With the rural health money, we’ve also bought extended hours in dental clinics.  We bought dental hygienists, basically have brought in an infusion of money to try to beef up the workforce shortage that we see in rural California.


The other thing we do and this, I guess speaks to the point of if you raise rates, does it impact access?  In rural California through our rural demonstration projects, we are in some cases enhancing the rates that our plans pay providers in rural California.  If you have a county with one or two dentists in a large geographic area, you need to pay what they charge in order to get the access.  So we have been able, though the rural health demonstrations, to work with two of our plans, Access Dental and Delta Dental, in those rural areas, to basically pay the rate so we can try to get access close to where people are living.  Now this doesn’t work for specialists if there are no specialists in the rural area, but it seems to be having a good effect for basically primary dental care.


On Page 7 of our handout, we show you the basic utilization in the program.  We looked for measures that are used nationally on utilization.  We find that hardly anyone collects or publishes utilization information.  We used the HETAS ?? which is the standardized measure for performance of plans.  We looked at the annual dental visit.  We feel this is a very basic measure.  It should be what we build from and keep adding additional measures.


In 1999, 56 percent of the children that were enrolled in Healthy Families for the entire year had a dental visit.  That is a statistic that we’d like to come with you on a yearly basis with seeing improvements in.  We’d like to see that up in the 70s or 80s.


The last two pages of the handouts, I think are probably going to be germane to other panel members’ testimony.  This has to do with what kind of services are we seeing children needing that are enrolled in Healthy Families?  So we asked each of our plans to report to us how many of the children that have come in are coming in for diagnostic and preventive services, what proportion of them need restorative – and restorative generally means fillings – and then what proportion are needing major or other services?


You can see on the Delta statistics there utilization that is probably higher than an average commercial – I’m on Page 8 of my handout -- it’s Tables 5 and 6, Delta being the largest plan, the plan with the largest enrollment in Healthy Families -- I’m going to talk from their numbers – that in the benefit year 99/2000, 59 percent of the children needed restorative services and 32 percent needed major or other services.


Now this is a different picture than early data we had released from Delta that indicated that primarily what children needed were preventive and diagnostic.  I think what we did is we released data before a lot of the claims had come in.  And what we’re seeing here is we’re seeing the children haven’t had care and they need more than a cleaning and an X-ray.


What we’ve seen in all our plans is more utilization than average.  By average, I mean what you would expect in a commercial population if you were buying dental insurance for an employer group.  What our plans tell us, that when the children have been enrolled for a couple of years, their utilization starts to look more like average.  But when they come in, they have a higher demand for services.


So what are the lessons we’ve learned in Healthy Families?  It’s a program fairly new but there are a few lessons that we think we can take from the early experience.  The dental benefit is extremely popular with families.  Application assistance tell us that many families sign up for Healthy Families because of the dental benefits.  The safety net in our state for health care is much stronger.  There’s more of a net there for health care.  The safety net on dental care for uninsured families is not there and families don’t know how to access it.  They wait until there’s a pain, something needs to be pulled.  So many families are signing up for Healthy Families, we believe, from the anecdotes we’ve heard, because of the dental benefits.


The benefits and the co-pays are on a par with the best that any employer plan has to offer in this state and that was our goal.  We appear to have broad participation from dentists.  The shortage of dental specialists is a statewide problem and it impacts us.  We could use more pediatric dentists and the entire state can use more pediatric dentists.  Rural shortage, the mal-distribution of dentists throughout the state also impact us, and so we have the rural health demonstration projects to try to address that.


Another lesson is that we believe there was a lot of pent-up demand and that in our ramp-up years, the utilization is going to be very large in dental.  Over time, we think, to use sort of a highfalutin phase, that the experience will regress to the mean.  Over time, people are going to look like average.  They’re going to have gotten their mouths up to kind of the same level that your children would have, the kind of oral health needs.  I’m sure that’s a contestable point.


Then I guess the final lesson that we’ve learned is that we’re going to have to push the envelope on assessing the satisfaction of families with dental care.  There is a standardized tool that’s used in the health plan arena.  It’s called the Consumer Satisfaction with Health Plans Tool.  It’s been field tested by Rand.  The federal government has embraced it.  Nothing like that exists for dental care.  But as the managers of this program, we want to hear from the families.  Do they think there are access problems?  How do they feel about the wait times?  Did their services get authorized?  Did they have access to specialists?  How is it looking from their point of view?  So we’re very committed to working on getting a dental satisfaction survey into the field this fall.  We’re pushing on the national groups that worked on the health plan one to see if they can kind of stretch their minds into letting us use the survey in the dental world.  But we think that would give us a real measure on how is it; is there a difference in the plan; is there a difference in experience for members in the plans that reimburse fee-for-service versus the plans that reimburse capitation?  Because we can all talk about the money and hear it from one point of view, but a very important additional voice we need is to hear from the members, how does it feel.  And if we’ve got stark differences, I think that would be very instructive to the debate.


So those are our opening remarks.  Did you want to whisper anything?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that thorough overview and I’m sure there will be questions.


MS. SABRA MATOVSKY:  Hi.  I’m Sabra Matovsky.  I’m the Director of Contracting for the Community Clinic Health Network in San Diego.

I want to start out with a little bit of background.  We see through the San Diego Safety Net of Community Clinics about 350,000 patients, unduplicated users, and we do about a million patient visits a year.  There are no county owned or operated clinics or hospitals in San Diego County so we are the safety net in terms of where patients go for care.

Our network of community clinics consist of about 17 separate entities with about 40 sites.  Two-thirds of our patients present in San Diego County have no health insurance.  We’re able to, through different parts of funding, find coverage for about half those patients which leads us with between 30 and 35 percent of our patients being unfunded as they come through the door.

When Healthy Families first came out, we were very excited about having a resource for these huge numbers of sliding-scale patients in San Diego County and we actively embraced managed care.  We have a geographic managed care model.  We participate in all the Medi-Cal health plans, and five out of six are the Healthy Families, physical health plans.  The only one we don’t participate in was one that did not offer us a contract.  So we have been very active in terms of being participants in managed care.

In terms of the dental, there were six health plans in San Diego County.  Of those, in terms of how the network developed over time, three of them initially presented as offering a fee-for-service model.  Ultimately, we ended up with one going out of business, one switching from being fee-for-service to capitated.  So now we just have one fee-for-service health plan which is Delta Dental and the other ones are capitated.

We signed up for the one fee-for-service contract plan and for capitated contracts.  The cap rates, although some of them are hybrids, run for your basic set of services, which includes the X-rays, the cleanings.  This is at the time the programs were beginning.  For the X-rays, the cleaning, and fillings and any kind of sealants, the cap rates run between $3.50 and $4 per member per month.  When you look at that rate in terms of what the costs would actually be under Denti-Cal, it’s about $104 under the old rates before the increase to Denti-Cal.  The Denti-Cal used to pay about $104 which ends up being about $8.67 per month if you just do one cleaning per year, one set of X-rays, and one established patient exam.  So that’s $8.67 when the cap rates were running between $3.50 and $4.  So the shortage, in terms of the comparison to Denti-Cal versus Healthy Families, is significant.  So when the previous dentist was talking about the rates being so low about being half of Denti-Cal rates, that’s pretty much what we had experienced.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So let me make sure I understand.  It’s twice as expensive roughly…


MS. MATOVSKY:  I’m just saying, if you do one cleaning and one exam and one set of X-rays a year for the patient, you end up with $104, if you divide that by 12; you end up with $8.67 per month.  That’s not sealants, that’s not cavities, that’s not any kind of restorative or even half the preventive treatment and that’s $8.67.  Our cap rates that were being offered were about $3.50 to $4 for this population which we just decided in terms of care for our members, you know, we really wanted to participate as community clinics.  We thought this was a great program to increase access to people who really had this need.  And what we were finding was that we could not in good conscience join these programs because, when we were working with the consultant, we said how do people manage between $3.50 and $4 per month with this care?


She said they drag out care in terms of how they provide it to the patients.  And we did some calls at the time and what we were finding was it takes six weeks to get in for an exam and then they will determine at that point of the exam whether or not you need a cleaning, even if you haven’t had one in years, and then it’s another six-week wait to get in for the cleaning.  So when you add it all up, we’re looking at three months, three, four months, to get a patient in for a cleaning and that’s how the capitated programs oftentimes, in order to stay financially viable, worked.  We said our whole point as community clinics is to increase access to these patients.  We can’t in good conscience participate in these programs.  If we participate in the capitated programs, we’re not being good stewards of the money that we have to provide care to these patients.  So we only participated in the one fee-for-service program which pays Denti-Cal rates which we’re willing to take if they’re being offered.


We were really concerned when Delta Dental pulled out of three Southern California counties because that was the only fee-for-service health plan that we had.  At that point, we weren’t going to be able to participate in Healthy Families even though we see these kids as being a core part of our mission.  We’re happy to say that Delta Dental is coming back to the counties, although they are going to have a cap in the number of enrollees that they’re going to take, I understand, which is going to also decrease access.


Then the other point that I just wanted to mention was, when Healthy Families extends to parents and you have even more providers, more people seeking care, the access issue really becomes paramount.  And in preparation for this hearing, I called 29 of the entries in the MRMIB Website for San Diego County in terms of providers.  Of those 29 individual dentists, it boiled down to seven groups.  Of the seven groups, one was out of service, one was a specialty group, four since then don’t take the program, and one had a waiting list for cleaning until June.  So that was 29 providers and you have one that actually sees children, and the current time as of the end of February, beginning of March, was a June appointment for a cleaning.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Obviously, we’re going to need MRMIB to sort of anticipate how we are to provide access to care when we expand Healthy Families, how we’re going to address these huge hurdles, obstacles.  I don’t know.  It’s overwhelming.


MS. MATOVSKY:  It’s huge.  The only other thing I wanted to point out was the white paper by CPCA that talks about some of our recommendations, including guaranteeing that there’s at least one fee for service health plan in each county and also to do some more work in terms of truly determining access because, to look at a provider roster in terms of who they have, you would think that you would have better access than what you actually have and not to necessarily put all the blame on the health plans’ shoulders, in terms of the ones that provide capitation; but even the ones that do, do fee-for-service, they are losing money on this program in terms of what they’re being paid.  And so the only way for the health plan to stay in it, it seems to be these capitated models which don’t provide the care.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


I’m going to have questions.  I don’t know whether Senator Vincent does, but I think I want to hear all the testimony before I try to sort through the issues.


MR. ED MARTINEZ:  Madam Chairwoman, my name is Ed Martinez.  I’m the Executive Director of San Ysidro Health Center.  San Ysidro Health Center is located adjacent to the U.S./Mexico border.  We’re approximately one mile from the border.  Our health center has been in existence since 1969.  We celebrated our 30th anniversary last year.  We currently provide both primary care, dental, and mental health services.  This last year, we reported 180,000 visits in our nine service centers.  Approximately 75 percent of our users, our clients, are at or below the federal poverty level.


As a preface to my comments, it’s a pleasure to be here this afternoon.  I really consider it a privilege.  I’ve been very active in dental public health which is what we’re really talking about for the past five years.  I’ve gone to probably three national conferences.  I was at the Surgeon General’s conference in Washington this last summer.  Everyone sort of struggles with how big this problem is, how complex it is – access, disparities, the costs.  And at the end of the day, after all those sessions, when we all get together and prioritize what are we going to do about this, number one, is that the perceptions about the importance of oral health among policymakers, state legislators, the government, the perception and sensitivity to the issue is really the most important factor in getting this problem resolved.  So I think this is great.  I’m really honored that the State Senate is really looking at this very closely.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can’t promise you any solutions but we’re looking at it.  Thank you.


MR. MARTINEZ:  Since 1973, San Ysidro Health Center’s oral health program has functioned as a principal dental safety net provider in the South Bay region of San Diego County.  Our health center currently operates a 12-chair dental clinic staffed by five full-time dentists, four general dentists, and one pediatric dentist.


Each month our dentists provide comprehensive oral health services to approximately 1,400 patients.  Of this population, approximately 350 are children under the age of ten.  Many of these children present with advanced stages of dental disease requiring extensive restorative services.  These are children of families who do not have dental insurance or who are underinsured who generally come to us requiring emergency or urgent care.


Over the past several years, our dentists have reported difficulties in responding to an increasing rate of untreated oral diseases, primarily among children living in poverty and of racial and ethnic minorities.  To clearly define the magnitude of the dental disease problem or health center was experiencing, our health center implemented and scientifically designed an oral health needs assessment of 2,000 preschool children.  This was done last year with the assistance of Dr. Francisco Ramos-Gomez, an Associate Professor of the School of Dentistry at UCSF.


This scientific study documented the fact that 69 percent or approximately 1,500 out of the 2,000 kids had untreated dental disease.  Sixty-nine percent, in contrast to the Dental Health Foundation’s survey of 1993/94, which found that 27 percent of the preschool kids had untreated dental experience, so our experience in our neighborhood is twice that.


Of the 2,000 children, 10 percent or 176 kids had 12 or more cavities. These children with 12 or more cavities are going to end up at the high end of the acuity of restorative treatment, and it’s going to cost anywhere from $2,000 to $5,000 of repairs.


As front-line providers of dental care services, it is quite evident we are dealing with an increase in dental disease epidemic, that unless checked, it threatens to overwhelm our community’s limited treatment resources.  Although our dental staff find full-time dentists work at 100 capacity in providing urgent and emergency restorative dental care to underserved kids, we are only able to scratch the surface of the tooth decay epidemic impacting our community at this time.  By necessity, our dental program concentrates on short-term drill-and-fill services that serve to relieve the pain and suffering associated with acute and chronic dental disease.  Other San Diego Health Centers that provide dental care services report similar growing demand for acute treatment services.


Collectively we are all caught in a vicious cycle of trying to keep up with the upward spiraling demand for treatment services while recognizing the need to implement community-based, oral health promotion, disease prevention services.  As key providers in the county’s dental safety net, we recognize that access to high-quality preventive care is an integral part of quality health care and is critical to eliminating disparities in oral health status.  Unfortunately, given the fact that oral health services are not well understood by public policymakers, with the exception of this body, of course, and private foundations, our community lacks the health infrastructure needed to tackle the children’s dental disease epidemic in a systematic, preventive approach that recognizes the multi-factorial nature of the disease.  Consequently, thousands of high-risk children go without professional oral services throughout their youth, during their formative years, which can result in severe, untreated dental disease and early tooth loss.


To arrest the epidemic of dental disease that currently impacts thousands of underserved children throughout the state, San Ysidro Health Center and the California PCA have collaborated with other health initiatives and policy organizations, such as the Children’s Dental Health Initiative and the Oral Health Access Initiative.  Both initiatives are sponsored by the Dental Health Foundation to develop effective public/private partnerships for improving their oral health status of all school-aged children.  Based on these collaborations, as well as the innovative work of our dental team, San Ysidro Health Center has identified several key strategies that offer great potential for eliminating oral health disparities.


We would like to suggest that the committee consider the potential of following community-based strategies for improving the oral health of our children.  There are six suggested strategies.


First, establish a dental health initiative that, one, focuses on children from birth to age 5; two, fund community-based oral health promotion and disease prevention services; and thirdly, provide early intervention to control dental disease as well as the cost associated with delayed and untreated disease.


The second strategy, to develop a culturally and linguistically appropriate social marketing campaign to increase the public’s awareness that dental disease is a transmissible, infectious disease, and reinforces the importance of scheduling the child’s first dental exam by their first birthday.


A third strategy, to develop children’s oral health programs that provide oral health screenings and refer children to a dental home for professional care and follow-up treatment.


The fourth strategy, to access families to enroll in Denti-Cal and Healthy Families or other programs that provide financial coverage for preventive services and treatment.


Strategy Number 5, improve Medi-Cal and Healthy Families reimbursement for preventive dental care services for all school-age children.


The sixth, provide incentives for counties to develop preventive dental programs for preschool children, especially children 0-2 years.


While considering suggestions for improving the effectiveness of Healthy Families services, the words of former Surgeon General Dr. C. Everett Koop are worth keeping in mind.  He said:  “If you don’t have good oral health, you’re not healthy.”


Based on this standard, thousands of children in our state, mostly uninsured, low-income, poor children, are not healthy today because they lack good oral health and are without the means to achieve it.  For the good of the children, our community urges you to make the necessary investment to develop a statewide network of community-based health promotion/disease-prevention programs.


The package that I believe you received, I have several slides.


One, it shows a disproportionate impact of dental decay at 25 percent of the population of all kids suffer 75 percent of the disease.  That’s a major, profound disparity that we’re dealing with.  These are the kids that come to our health centers.


The second slide shows the results of our needs assessment.  This is a scientific study in the first part of 2000.  It was designed by Dr. Ramos-Gomez from the UCSF Dental School; 2,000 children under the age of five.  Our dentists actually went into the preschools.  They examined the children.  They recorded their data on scientifically calibrated instruments.  All of it was done very scientifically.  It just shows that of the children, 69 percent have untreated decay.


If you look at that, the other slide shows data from Dental Health Foundation which shows that for preschool children, they found 40 percent, so we’re almost 30 percent higher than that.


Then I have a slide that shows what I call the Band-Aid of Continuum of Care.  This talks about really about the absence of the dental safety net in our community.  We don’t have a safety net for oral health.  What we have a is a Band-Aid-type or style of managing oral health for kids.  It shows at the right, far right, it’s a high cost, high-paying end of the continuum.  These are the children, the 10 percenters that don’t have access.  They end up in the OR where a pediatric surgeon has to extract to do major work.



We’re looking at the other end of the continuum.  It’s low cost, low paying.  We work with the pregnant moms.  They’re highly motivated to take care of their new babies.  We work with them in the prenatal program and talk to them about nutrition, their oral health, and their newborn’s oral health.  And that’s the key, to work with them when they’re pregnant.  Then by the time that they’re one year, make sure they get to see the dentist.


There was a question from Senator Vincent about what can we do about this?  What can the state or the Senate develop?



I would like to suggest that this last slide, and with Dr. Ramos-Gomez’ help, is put together a model for a comprehensive children’s oral heath program, an initiative, that is focused on prevention and health promotion.  The treatment part of it is costly.  It’s like the third tier down.  The first tier is primary prevention that starts with fluoridation, dental sealants, case finding, case management, working with our mothers, focusing on the children by the age of one, getting them into the system, and working with the families.  If it’s not the mother, it’s the caregiver; it’s the grandparent.  We have to take it to the families in the community.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your presentation.  I really don’t, I want you to understand that the members here, certainly Senator Vincent has been sitting here since 1:30 today, so I’m going to ask the other speakers to try to move through their testimony.  But I really want to thank you for presenting one of the big-picture statements about the problem.  We had a little bit of a side bar here about my staff, one whose mother who went through all the training and instruction, when a mother leaves a hospital, nobody talks about baby bottle mouth.  We were speculating whether these children are primarily children we see based on the statistics.  That’s not the sole cause of dental caries for children.  But at a minimum, doctors should be trained.  It’s not just dentists.  It’s cross-training in all, nurse practitioners, every access point for new mothers and/or parents in general ought to be talking about the number one manageable source of caries, of course, babies with bottles that rot their teeth but it goes beyond that.  


MR. MARTINEZ:  In San Diego, all the health centers are coming together to bring their primary care to pediatricians and the obstetricians with the dentists to talk about that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Always a lot of need for cross-training and re-education among all health care providers and certainly the public health and I think some real creative notions on 0-5 because many doctors say that dentists recommend that children not see a dentist until they’re two.  Well, that’s fine, if you’re a parent who’s informed and is conscious and doesn’t leave a bottle in your baby’s mouth.  But if you’re not one of those parents and that child doesn’t see a dentist until two, it may be too late.  Then there’s the ongoing information that needs to be provided to parents about how to educate their children, about daily brushing and oral care.


Thank you.  I’m going to lose a member soon so I’m going to ask the other speakers to go through their testimony, and I really appreciate how patient Senator Vincent has been.  It’s an important issue and not to minimize your presentation.


MS. LIZ SNOW:  Liz Snow with the California Dental Association.


I want to thank Senator Ortiz and the Committee for their interest in this area. It’s greatly appreciated.  It’s been a long time in coming and we’re very thankful for it.


I will be very, very brief but I did want to just comment on some of the things that you did last year.


There was funding provided to us, a 6.8 percent rate increase in the Denti-Cal program which also was greatly appreciated.  But it wasn’t quite made clear that the priority for that funding and the Department worked with a number of interested parties.  But the funding went primarily to the non-bargaining, non-lawsuit procedures, the 148 that were not covered in the lawsuits, which had not in fact received a rate increase in 20 years.


So what last year’s rate increase did in fact did was bring all of the abysmal rates up to the rate of about 50 percent where the others were hovering.  So that’s kind of where the program is sitting now.  Most of that money did not go into any of the preventive, diagnostic procedures.  There was also a funding increase provided in the Children’s Dental Disease Prevention Program which is the only school-based program we have at the State of California.  We have moved that program from just providing a fluoride rinse to now moving into the area of providing sealants which was a very good move.


The last comment that I would make about the Denti-Cal program is earlier the Department alluded to the fact that there are 11,000 providers in that program.  While there are 11,000 providers who in fact have a Denti-Cal provider number, there are only 1,308 providers who are providing the significant bulk of care in that program and the bulk of care being defined as individuals or practices that are seeing between 500 and 1,000 Denti-Cal patients a year, so the number is significantly lower than 11,000.


What I’d like to touch on related to Healthy Families is about the provider network.  One of our local dental societies, the Los Angeles County Dental Society, has just recently conducted a survey.  They’re about halfway through with the provider network in the LA area.  They sent out 1,350 surveys which is approximately half of the providers in the area that had indicated by list, provided by MRMIB, that they were in fact providers for the Healthy Families program.  What that survey showed, and we will certainly acknowledge that that survey was not scientific; it was just an information gathering because we had had some concerns about what we were hearing about, a lack of access.  And just like the staff with MRMIB with 7,000 providers, we couldn’t understand how that would be a possibility.


So what the results showed, there were 148 surveys or 11 percent of those sent out that were returned because they were not deliverable so the addresses were incorrect.  Of the surveys that were returned, they received 270 returned surveys which is about a 21 percent response rate.  Ninety-six of those surveys or 36 percent indicated that they were in fact plan providers as listed by MRMIB.  There were 131 individuals or 49 percent indicated that they had either completely dropped out of Healthy Families or they were not a provider for one or more plans that they had been listed with.


There were 43 individuals or 16 percent that indicated that they were participating in a plan, that they had not been listed by MRMIB as being a plan provider.  What that indicates is, one way or another, about 64 percent of the listing appear to be inaccurate, and I think that there are any number of factors that can contribute to that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Excuse me, Ms. Snow.  Do we have a copy of the CDA’s survey?


MS. SNOW:  No.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We look forward to having you share that with us.


MS. SNOW:  We do believe that there are any number of factors that can contribute to that, including a dentist’s lack of knowledge about whether he or she happens to be a provider or not, which sometimes is not always clear.  But in any case, it seemed to be a rather high response that didn’t quite jibe with information that was coming out for MRMIB.


The second indication that we had that there were some inaccuracies in the provider listing came from a review of providers in El Dorado County.  There were seven providers listed in El Dorado County – six of them in one office, one in a separate office.  A closer examination showed that one of the individuals listed in that office had left that office three years prior, prior to even the Healthy Families program going into place.  One individual had never been in that office and was in fact a provider in a different county for that plan.


The third provider only did exams one day a week so it was not essentially a full-service provider.  Two of the providers in that office were part-time providers; one was in fact a full-time provider.  So when you look at that, what you’ve got is, instead of seven providers, you actually have the equivalent of two full-time providers and that’s what the El Dorado County evaluation showed.  We’ve just recently received a phone call from the last private practitioner, pediatric dentist in Sonoma County who has dropped out of the program.  So while there are providers remaining in Sonoma County, none of them are private practitioners.  And the reason that I would make a point that the involvement of the private practitioners in this program or any state program at this point in time is necessary, is if you look at the dental delivery system in the State of California, as it’s been indicated by previous speakers, there really is a lack of a safety net in the dental arena.  So if you do not have the involvement of the approximately 80 percent of dentists who are private practitioners in the state, it’s very difficult to have long-term success or viability of any program.


Other people have touched on utilization reimbursement rates so I won’t get into that.  I would like to just briefly make a couple of suggestions that we would like to have done or looked at.


We are in a agreement with CPCA that there should at least be a minimum of parity in rates in Healthy Families to Denti-Cal.  It’s a bit difficult when a program that’s supposed to mirror the commercial marketplace does not in fact even consistently have reimbursement rates that are equal to Denti-Cal.  We believe that, based on the limited information we’ve gotten, that perhaps it would be appropriate for an independent review to be done of the provider listings that the plans have to verify that in fact these individuals are involved.


We do believe that the rural demonstration projects have come up with some very creative things, and I know the Senate Budget Subcommittee is looking at expanding funding in that area and we would certainly encourage that.  They’ve done some very good things.


We would encourage you to re-look at the Children’s Dental Disease Prevention Program as one of the only school-based early intervention programs.  It’s been mentioned by a number of speakers that we are encountering at a minimum a mal-distribution of dentists in the State of California and perhaps a shortage, depending on what your definition of a shortage is.  The Children’s Dental Disease Prevention Program allows for a dentist to go into a school, do a screening, and then sealants can be placed by hygienists so it’s a, I believe it’s an effective use of limited manpower.  We would also like that some consideration be given to funding of community water fluoridation which is in fact the most cost-effective, efficient, preventive measure that the oral health community experiences.



The last thing that I would say, because have touched on the shortage of pediatric dentists, something that the California Dental Association is well aware of and as a step in the direction of trying to deal with it, we’ve been working with the California Society of Pediatric Dentists to develop a training program that is geared toward general dentists to attempt to help them become more comfortable with some of the behavioral management issues that you deal with when you’re treating very young children.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that very thorough overview again.


I think I’m going to lose a member but I really want to allow our last speaker on the panel to do a presentation, and there may be public comment after this and we’re getting close to pushing the limits of everybody.  But I would be remiss if I didn’t have one of my local dentists speak.


Welcome.


DR. REZA ABBASZADEH:  Thank you.

My name is Dr. Reza Abbaszadeh.  I’m a dentist and I’m the Chief Executive Officer of Access Dental Plan and Premier Access Insurance Company based in Sacramento.  Both Access and Premier are contractors under the California Healthy Families program providing one of the options for the dental coverage of the program in all the 58 counties of the state.


Access is a managed care company providing Healthy Families dental coverage in urban counties of the state while Premier, which is an insurance company, provides the Healthy Families coverage in about 40 counties that are primarily rural counties.


There is a difference in the way that we administer the dental benefits for the Healthy Families program between Access and Premier.  Before I mention that difference, I would like to state something that is probably obvious to most people.  However, I would like to make the point anyway as it is sometimes overlooked in these discussions.


The marketplace, as it relates to the availability of dental providers to accept new patients, the level of competition between the providers and the willingness of the providers to accept a discount over their usual and customary rates are not the same in every area of the state.  In densely populated urban areas, such as Los Angeles, there are typically more providers willing to participate in managed care networks than there are available patients or member pools to be distributed among them.


We at Access in fact have a similar situation in LA where we have more providers than we can support with our current level of enrollment in the Healthy Families program.  In these areas, a significant portion of the providers accept discounts over their fees to compete with other providers for the available patient pool.

The reverse is true in rural and less populated areas of the state where the number of providers is few and the general population’s access to dentists is limited.  In these communities, the providers are typically not willing to accept discounts under fees due to a true shortage of providers in these areas.


This is the reason, that from the onset of the Healthy Families program, we approached MRMIB’s staff with the idea of administrating the dental coverage in the program in a way that we would be sensitive to the difference and the level of availability of providers in different communities of this state.  Under our Premier Access coverage and Healthy Families program, you pay 100 percent of the usual and customary rates of providers in rural areas, allowing their members to visit any dental office and we require no prior authorization to visit any specialist.  We simply do not ask for any discounts from providers in these 40 rural counties in this state.


Under our Access coverage in urban areas, we provide the coverage through a managed care network where we have negotiated discounts with the providers.  Specifically, Access reimburses providers based on a mixed arrangement of capitation and fee-for-service reimbursement.  In fact, in the 1999/2000 contract period, for every dollar that was spent in capitation reimbursement by Access, we spent close to $2 in fee-for-service reimbursements to providers.  All our specialists in our network are to reimburse on a fee-for-service basis and the providers are able to refer patients to specialists who cannot be treated in a general dentist setting.


In my opinion, the important issue to focus on, considering appropriateness of a given method of providing benefits, is not necessarily provider reimbursement, even though that factor eventually will be a significant influence on the outcome.  In my opinion, what needs to be looked at initially is whether a given method of administering the benefits can provide adequate access to providers for the members.  If a given reimbursement arrangement is providing that adequate access to providers, then in that given area, that is a reasonable reimbursement.  If you are not able to provide adequate access in a given geographical area, then the level of reimbursement should be one of the areas to examine.


In the Healthy Families Advisory Panel Committee, some of the members have indicated, that as time goes by, there will be a reduction in the ratio of available dentists to the population throughout the state due to the gradual increases in the state population and a reduction in the number of dentists graduating from schools.  Several dental schools recently proposed reducing the number of graduates in the field by double-digit percentages throughout the country.  As I mentioned earlier, there is a true shortage of dentists in many rural areas of the state.  In fact, one of the panel members of the Advisory Committee suggested that MRMIB encourage dental schools to increase the number of students that they accept every year.


As I’m here at the Capitol, I would like to propose a simpler and perhaps a more practical approach in increasing the number of available dentists in California.  Every year, hundreds of foreign graduate dental students attempt to complete the California dental licensing examinations to obtain a license in California to be able to practice here.  I believe as much as one-third to one-half of all dental licenses currently issued in the state are obtained by these foreign graduates.


However, legislation that was passed several years ago is going to stop the availability of these exams to foreign graduate dentists as of December 2002.  I urge you to consider extending that window for several more years to allow additional dentists to enter into the marketplace throughout California.


I have some comments about the GMC and Denti-Cal program but I’ll leave it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.


Would you like to comment, Ms. Shewry?  I think what I heard here was sort of whether or not we can do some incentivization.  I thought I had heard you earlier say that you indeed do for the rural demand issue.


MS. SHEWRY:  I guess I’d like to comment on the general themes, both from this panel and the one previous that might be relevant to Healthy Families.


A message I hear is the information that we’re getting from our dental plans about who is available to serve our members doesn’t feel accurate.  When people have done surveys, scientific or unscientific, or phone calls, it looks like there are inaccuracies in that and so that is a chore for MRMIB to get with our plan partners to say, you’re assuring us that what you’re providing with us is accurate, so is it?  We get that data quarterly so this isn’t a turnaround that can happen next week, but we can certainly talk to our plan that this issue has come up in a Senate hearing.  It’s a very important issue for access to the program and that on that next submission we would like them to go back and basically clean their books, that maybe all they’re doing is putting new dentists on and not taking off because things do change.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think it might be also helpful to look at the survey model.  Maybe a better narrowing of the questions might extract a bit more of that information.


DR. ABBASZADEH:  May I make a comment.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Sure.

DR. ABBASZADEH:  We as a plan list the providers that submit a contract to us.  These contracts were obtained truthfully almost three years ago.  Not every one of these providers has seen even one Healthy Families patient.  So we basically get the contracts that are submitted to us three years ago.  We list them.  As long as the provider doesn’t tell us that they want to dis-enroll and come out of the program, from our point of view, they’re an active provider.  That’s the information we have.


Now certainly you can call the provider if he hasn’t seen a patient for two years.  He might have not even remembered signing up for the program.  That could very well be true, but we get a contract and we list the provider on our panel as an available provider.


MS. SHEWRY:  The whole checking of these lists will be full of these nuances.  If I call your office and say are you a Healthy Families provider, you may say no.  I take Access, Delta, and Universal Care.  I don’t know anything about that government Healthy Families gig.  So it does require really pushing, and let us talk with our plan partner because Reza is making a good point in that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think it’s important.  I don’t want to have a hearing six months from now having this same question in front of us.


Go ahead.


MS. SHEWRY:  The other sort of theme is, well, you now, how does reimbursement impact access, and is it all right with us for a provider that wants to serve Healthy Families, children, when there’s maybe four plans offered in an area, that they only come to agreement with one plan about being signed up?  And that’s sort of a basic policy issue about the model.  There’s kind of two ways to buy health care.  You can set the rates or you can negotiate the rates.  In Healthy Families, Cal-PERS, in the employer world, you try to negotiate the rates.  So negotiating the rates means that we turn to our plan partners and we say, go out there and get us a network and set up the deals and convince the licensing entity that you have an adequate network and that all the services are there.  So it’s a policy choice about how you want to establish those rates. Healthy Families today sets a competitive price that takes health plan prices, dental plan prices, and vision plan prices and puts them into a countywide price.


Now there’s a lot of decision in there.  I mean you could have just had the health plans compete with themselves, the dental plans compete with themselves, you know, but we put them all in a package in our negotiations so there’s a lot of choices that have been made along the way about how the negotiations are done.


One idea that was suggested by a couple of speakers was the model that frankly the State Employee Plan uses.  The State Employee Plan says there’s always going to be a fee-for-service plan.  So they hold two competitions.  When DPA negotiates benefits for us, they say we’re going to pick a fee-for-service plan.  Winner take all, statewide, and then we’re going to have many managed care dental plans.  We’re going to have a choice of those.  So they have sort of two ways that they bring in their network.  It’s a different model.


I think what some of the speakers are starting to get at, is the model we’re using the one that serves our interests?  And those are all very legitimate questions.  And the model we use right now bundles the competition across all three insurance products that we buy.


MS. MATOVSKY:  One of the comments I wanted to make in terms of it just being a structural issue with we need a fee-for-service option and a capitated option, that to have a fee-for-service option that looks as bad as the capitated option isn’t going to fix anything.  I mean if it’s going to be a competitive process for fee-for-service, then we end up with fee-for-service rates at 50 percent of the Denti-Cal rate, then there’s still no way to make ends meet in terms of being a provider.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What I’d like to do, and I appreciate this, unfortunately again, I want to see if there’s any comments from the public.  I wish that we had had more time to spend on this part of the hearing.  I suspect that I’m going to want to come back and spend a little more time because it’s late in the day.  We don’t have a lot of members here, but I think it’s some of the most valuable information that we’ve gotten thus far, in terms of characterization of the problem.  We know what the problem is.  It appears the solutions within Healthy Families is a huge challenge, particularly for a hearing, so that the number of providers are being reduced at an alarming rate that concerns me.


I don’t want to cut you off.  I want to have more discussion.  I do want to see if there’s public comment and then I’m going to have to wrap up here, but please know that I’d like to have us regroup, go through, pick up where we left off at some point in the future.  I won’t burden you too soon.


Are there closing comments on MRMIB?


MS. SHEWRY:  I guess I’m discouraged to hear that your takeaway is providers reduced at an alarming rate.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, not reduced but that we’re seeing this access question becoming worse rather than better, and I think that that’s what I’m hearing from the providers.  I don’t think we have enough time to go through it.  It’s not a statement about your ability to do so.  I think you’ve accurately characterized the dilemma as to how to provide a series of products within the Healthy Families package, but I don’t think we have enough time nor would it do anyone justice to have that discussion right now but I do want to come back and have that discussion.  So that would be my explanation.


I want to thank you all for being a part of this panel.  I want to give an opportunity for others to briefly come up and comment on the record and then promise to regroup again with all of your input.


Thank you.  Please come forward.


Ms. Shewry, if you wouldn’t mind staying.  There may be questions and comments that you feel appropriate to respond to, I’d appreciate that.


MR. AL HERNANDEZ:  Madam Chair, Al Hernandez.  I’m with the California Primary Care Association.


Thank you for your time.  I’ll be brief.  I just wanted to quickly turn your attention to make sure it was not overseen, our position paper from the CPCA in which we laid out eight recommendations at the very end and we hope that’s not too many but you can pick and choose from there.  Two of them deal with how to deal with the workforce shortage.


Secondly, I think that Ms. Shewry hit the nail on the head when she talked about this is really a discussion about what model are we going to use to manage price competition.  I want to remind the committee and MRMIB that in the federal SCHIP regulations they say they allow you to either do actuarial-based rates or competitive rates but that no matter what method you choose, Page 5 of our position paper explains that, quote, from the federal SCHIP regulation that says that you can establish even higher rates if this is necessary to ensure sufficient provider participation, provider access, or to enroll providers with the most proven efficiency or quality in the provision of services.  This has been in the SCHIP regulation for a long time since the program began.  Even though they were put on hold right now, we expect to see a them approved in the final ruling.


Thirdly, I just want to quickly address the point because it was mentioned several times in testimony that the safety net presence is not strong enough in California and actually that’s true.  We are, however, the major safety net provider for dental services.  If you think that we’re really scrambling for resources, just talk to a county hospital outpatient clinic that tries to provide dental.  We are the major provider, like we said, of primary dentists, dental facilities, even though less than half of federally qualified health centers nationally are able to provide dental care.  That’s because it’s so expensive.  The overhead is high.  You need different plumbing, different tubing, dental chairs, and that’s why we brought a bill authored by Assemblyman Cardenas last year to provide more infrastructure dollars.


We just wanted a dental carve out because it always gets swallowed up with the rest of the medical.  Luckily, the Governor gave us $50 million to do infrastructure and it’s combined of ultra medical and dental so we’ll see how that pans out.


But we are encouraged by the Rural Health Demonstration Project, as explained by Gail Margolis, Ms. Margolis, and Ms. Shewry.  However, I’m not the expert on rural issues at the clinic association.  But we know that the rate enhancement part of the demonstration project has not worked as well as the grant part of it.


So to wrap up, I would say that one thing that came out of this hearing is that we’re sitting with Access Dental next week to meet and talk about setting different rates in all rural counties that we have clinics on so that’s a very helpful sign, and we also want to commend MRMIB for talking about sending this consumer satisfaction survey, which I think would help.


With that, I don’t want to take more of the committee’s time so thank you so much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you and thank you for being patient to wait through a long hearing, but it’s very helpful.


MR. HERNANDEZ:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are there others that would like to comment on the record?


Senator Vincent, any closing comments?  Always a challenge with informational hearings.  I share that.

SENATOR VINCENT:  And I really appreciate what you’re doing and I think that it’s outstanding what you’ve done and we can move on with it and do all we can.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for really staying with it.


And to all of the participants, thank you so much.  I know that this has been a long hearing.  I certainly have found it incredibly informative.  I’m hoping that out of this we can sort of find some ways to increase access, provide the services in a manner that we think appropriate, we have a huge, huge challenge and obstacle to overcome, given the profound problem with dental disease, particularly with children, so thank you all for being a participant in that and I look forward to following up on some of this.


This meeting is adjourned.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Thank you.
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